IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA CHARLESTON DIVISION

JANE DOE,)
Plaintiff,))
v.)
THE CITY OF GAULEY BRIDGE and))
LARRY ALLEN CLAY, JR., individually as a member of the Gauley)
Bridge Police Department,)
Defendants.)

Civil Action No. 2:21-cv-00491

COMPLAINT

)

COMES NOW, Jane Doe Plaintiff, by counsel, and for her Complaint states and alleges as follows:

JURY DEMAND

1. Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and under its authority to decide pendent state law claims.

3. Plaintiff files this Complaint, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, alleging violations of her constitutional rights. Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that, *inter alia*, her substantive due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution were violated when she was repeatedly sexually assaulted by Defendant Larry Allen Clay, Jr. in June 2020 in Fayette County, West Virginia, while she was a seventeen (17) year old minor.

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 2 of 18 PageID #: 2

4. Venue is proper because one or more of the above-named Defendants reside within the Southern District of West Virginia, Charleston Division, and because the incidents giving rise to this Complaint occurred in the Southern District of West Virginia, Charleston Division.

PARTIES

5. Jane Doe Plaintiff (hereinafter "Plaintiff") was at all times relevant hereto a resident of Fayette County, West Virginia.

6. Defendant the City of Gauley Bridge (hereinafter, the "City of Gauley Bridge") is a municipality established under the laws of West Virginia and located in Fayette County, West Virginia. The Gauley Bridge Police Department (hereinafter, the "Gauley Bridge PD"), including its agents and employees, is a subdivision of the City of Gauley Bridge and subject to the authority, control, and discipline of the City of Gauley Bridge.

7. Defendant Larry Allen Clay, Jr. (hereinafter "Chief Clay") was at all times relevant hereto an agent and employee of the Gauley Bridge PD and was at all times relevant hereto acting under color of law and within the scope of his employment as the Chief of the Gauley Bridge PD. Chief Clay, who upon information and belief resides in Fayette County, West Virginia, is sued only in his individual capacity.

8. Defendants are sued up to the limits of the insurance policy that provides liability coverage for their actions and omissions.

FACTS

9. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 8 as though fully set forth herein.

10. At the time of the incidents giving rise to this Complaint, Plaintiff was a seventeen(17) year old minor.

- 2 -

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 3 of 18 PageID #: 3

11. At the time of the incidents giving rise to this Complaint, Plaintiff lived with and was otherwise in the custody of her ex-step-father, Charles Legg, and his wife, Kristen Naylor-Legg (hereinafter "Mrs. Naylor-Legg").

12. Upon information and belief, in or around April-May 2020, Mrs. Naylor-Legg began having an extra-marital affair with Chief Clay.

13. At some point thereafter, Chief Clay expressed to Mrs. Naylor-Legg that he was sexually interested in Plaintiff, even though he knew Plaintiff was a minor.

14. Chief Clay expressed to Mrs. Naylor-Legg that he would pay Plaintiff to touch herself in a sexual way while he and Mrs. Naylor-Legg had sexual intercourse.

15. At some point prior to June 2020, while Plaintiff was still a minor, Mrs. Naylor-Legg began taking cellular phone pictures of Plaintiff's naked breasts and buttocks.

16. Mrs. Naylor-Legg then sent these naked pictures of Plaintiff to Chief Clay (and other individuals) in exchange for money.

17. During the Spring - Early Summer of 2020, Chief Clay (in his capacity as a Gauley Bridge PD officer) attended a high school graduation party where Plaintiff was also present.

18. Chief Clay followed Plaintiff around the party, continually trying to get physically close to her.

19. During the party, Plaintiff did her best to avoid Chief Clay.

20. That night after the party, Mrs. Naylor-Legg told Plaintiff that Chief Clay was sexually interested in her and that he was upset that Plaintiff showed no interest in him.

21. That night after the party, Mrs. Naylor-Legg expressed to Plaintiff that if she did not begin showing more interest in Chief Clay, she would throw Plaintiff out of the house, leaving her to live on the street.

- 3 -

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 4 of 18 PageID #: 4

22. In June 2020, while Plaintiff was still a minor, Mrs. Naylor-Legg arranged for Plaintiff to have sexual intercourse with Chief Clay in exchange for money.

23. Chief Clay was aware that Plaintiff was a minor at the time because, *inter alia*, he and Mrs. Naylor-Legg had previously discussed Plaintiff's upcoming 18th birthday.

24. Mrs. Naylor-Legg told Plaintiff that she needed to have sexual intercourse with Chief Clay in exchange for money, because the family needed the funds to keep the utilities on in their home.

25. On the evening in question, Mrs. Naylor-Legg drove Plaintiff to a remote location on Cain Branch Road, just outside of the City of Gauley Bridge, to meet Chief Clay.

26. Upon information and belief, Chief Clay was on-duty with the Gauley Bridge PD at the time of this encounter.

27. Chief Clay arrived at the location in a Gauley Bridge PD cruiser and wearing his Gauley Bridge PD uniform.

28. Upon arriving, Chief Clay unzipped his uniform pants, exposed his penis, and directed Plaintiff to perform oral sex upon him.

29. Chief Clay then bent Plaintiff over the side of his Gauley Bridge PD cruiser, had sexual intercourse with her, then ejaculated on the ground.

30. After Chief Clay was finished, he paid Mrs. Naylor-Legg fifty (50) dollars in cash.

31. Chief Clay told Plaintiff to "keep her mouth shut" about the sexual encounter and not to "tell anyone."

32. On the evening in question, another minor female rode with Plaintiff in Mrs. Naylor-Legg's vehicle and witnessed the sexual encounter between Plaintiff and Chief Clay, described hereinabove.

- 4 -

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 5 of 18 PageID #: 5

33. According to this minor female eye witness, Mrs. Naylor-Legg compelled Plaintiff to have sexual intercourse with Chief Clay by telling her she "had to do this" and "can't back out now."

34. Later in June 2020, while Plaintiff was still a minor, Mrs. Naylor-Legg again arranged for Plaintiff to have sexual intercourse with Chief Clay in exchange for money.

35. On the evening in question, Mrs. Naylor-Legg drove Plaintiff to the former Gauley Bridge High School to meet Chief Clay.

36. The former Gauley Bridge High School currently houses Gauley Bridge City Hall and the Gauley Bridge PD.

37. Upon information and belief, Chief Clay was on-duty with the Gauley Bridge PD at the time of this encounter.

38. Mrs. Naylor-Legg and Plaintiff met Chief Clay at an old Gauley Bridge PD substation room located inside the former Gauley Bridge High School. Chief Clay had access to this room due to his position as the Chief of the Gauley Bridge PD.

39. Once inside the room, Chief Clay had sexual intercourse with Plaintiff and ejaculated inside her.

40. Chief Clay asked to ejaculate inside Plaintiff, and Mrs. Naylor-Legg directed Plaintiff (over her objection) to allow him to do so, because Chief Clay was supposedly "fixed."

41. During this encounter, Chief Clay was in his Gauley Bridge PD uniform.

42. After Chief Clay was finished, he paid Mrs. Naylor-Legg fifty (50) dollars in cash.

43. After Chief Clay finished, Mrs. Naylor-Legg gave Plaintiff some paper towels to clean herself with.

44. After cleaning herself, Plaintiff threw the paper towels in the corner of room.

- 5 -

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 6 of 18 PageID #: 6

45. In September 2020, Plaintiff reported these horrendous events to the Fayette County Sheriff's Department. An investigation by the West Virginia State Police and the United States Department of Homeland Security ensued.

46. During its investigation, the Department of Homeland Security located the paper towel(s) used by Plaintiff to clean herself after the second sexual encounter with Chief Clay.

47. The towel(s) were found in the Gauley Bridge PD substation room located inside the former Gauley Bridge High School.

48. The towel(s) were tested for DNA by the West Virginia State Police Crime Lab.

49. According to the DNA results, the odds of Plaintiff and Chief Clay being excluded as DNA matches for the substance(s) found on the towel(s) is approximately 1 in 3.9 trillion.

50. On at least one occasion, Chief Clay (with the help of Mrs. Naylor-Legg) arranged for another law enforcement officer to have sexual intercourse with Plaintiff in exchange for money.

51. Prior to the encounter, Chief Clay showed the other law enforcement officer naked pictures of Plaintiff.

52. At Chief Clay's direction, this other law enforcement officer (yet to be identified) also met Mrs. Naylor-Legg and Plaintiff at the old Gauley Bridge PD substation room located inside the former Gauley Bridge High School that houses City Hall and the Gauley Bridge PD.

53. However, once this other law enforcement officer learned that Plaintiff was only seventeen (17) years old, he declined to have sexual intercourse with her.

54. On or around March 24, 2021, charges were brought in the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia against Mrs. Naylor-Legg and Chief Clay for (1)

- 6 -

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 7 of 18 PageID #: 7

Sex Trafficking of a Minor and (2) Conspiracy to Commit Sex Trafficking of a Minor in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 3142(g)(1) [Case No. 2:21-MJ-00068 and Case No. 2:21-MJ-00069, respectively].

55. Upon information and belief, Chief Clay is no longer employed by the City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD.

<u>COUNT I – FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT SUBSTANATIVE DUE PROCESS</u> <u>VIOLATION UNDER 42 U.S.C. § 1983</u> *Chief Clay*

56. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 55 as though fully set forth herein.

57. Chief Clay, while acting under color of law and within the scope of his employment as the Chief of Gauley Bridge PD, violated Plaintiff's constitutional rights by wantonly inflicting physical harm, as described hereinabove, during the sexual assaults that took place in June 2020, resulting in damages to Plaintiff. *See Jones v. Wellham*, 104 F.3d 620 (4th Cir. 1997).

58. At all material times, Chief Clay was acting in his official capacity as a Gauley Bridge PD officer.

59. The actions of Chief Clay, described hereinabove, violated the constitutional rights guaranteed to Plaintiff under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

60. Pursuant to W.Va. Code 29-12A-18(e), by alleging violations of the United States Constitution, the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act is inapplicable.

61. The grotesque actions of Chief Clay, described hereinabove, were not taken in good-faith, were objectively unreasonable, and were in violation of clearly established law.

62. The grotesque actions of Chief Clay, described hereinabove, violated Plaintiff's right to liberty, bodily integrity, privacy, and personal autonomy.

- 7 -

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 8 of 18 PageID #: 8

63. The grotesque actions of Chief Clay, described hereinabove, deliberately injured Plaintiff in a way unjustified by any government interest.

64. The grotesque actions of Chief Clay, described hereinabove, shock the conscious.

65. The grotesque actions of Chief Clay, described hereinabove, were unlawful and unjustified.

66. As a direct and proximate result of Chief Clay's wanton, unjustified, and unconstitutional actions, Plaintiff suffered severe and permanent physical and emotional injuries, and will seek compensation for: past and future medical expenses and other economic and noneconomic damages; pain and suffering, both in the past and in the future; an impairment of the capacity to enjoy life, both in the past and in the future; annoyance, aggravation, inconvenience, and mental anguish, both in the past and in the future.

67. In addition to these compensatory damages, Plaintiff will also seek to recover, under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, attorneys' fees and cost incurred during the course of this litigation.

68. The actions of Chief Clay were reprehensible, willful and wanton, malicious, and in blatant disregard for the rights owed to Plaintiff, thereby justifying an award of punitive damages, to the extent such damages are recoverable under the applicable insurance policy(s).

<u>COUNT II – ASSAULT</u> Chief Clay

69. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations made in paragraphs 1 through 68 as though fully set forth herein.

70. Chief Clay committed an assault upon Plaintiff by acting with the intention of causing harmful or offensive contact, and by causing Plaintiff to reasonably fear such imminent harmful or offensive contact.

- 8 -

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 9 of 18 PageID #: 9

71. As a direct and proximate result of Chief Clay's harmful, offensive, and unjustified conduct, Plaintiff suffered severe and permanent physical and emotional injuries, and will seek compensation for: past and future medical expenses and other economic and noneconomic damages; pain and suffering, both in the past and in the future; an impairment of the capacity to enjoy life, both in the past and in the future; annoyance, aggravation, inconvenience, and mental anguish, both in the past and in the future.

72. The actions of Chief Clay were reprehensible, willful and wanton, malicious, and in blatant and intentional disregard for the rights owed to Plaintiff, thereby justifying an award of punitive damages, to the extent such damages are recoverable under the applicable insurance policy(s).

73. The City of Gauley Bridge is vicariously liable for the acts of Chief Clay committed within the scope of his employment.

<u>COUNT III – BATTERY</u> Chief Clay

74. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations made in paragraphs 1 through 73 as though fully set forth herein.

75. Chief Clay committed battery upon Plaintiff by acting with the intention of causing harmful or offensive contact, and by causing Plaintiff to reasonably fear such imminent harmful or offensive contact.

76. As set forth hereinabove, Chief Clay did physically contact Plaintiff in a harmful and offensive way, proximately causing injuries to Plaintiff.

77. As a direct and proximate result of Chief Clay's harmful, offensive, and unjustified conduct, Plaintiff suffered severe and permanent physical and emotional injuries, and will seek compensation for: past and future medical expenses and other economic and noneconomic

- 9 -

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 10 of 18 PageID #: 10

damages; pain and suffering, both in the past and in the future; an impairment of the capacity to enjoy life, both in the past and in the future; annoyance, aggravation, inconvenience, and mental anguish, both in the past and in the future.

78. The actions of Chief Clay were reprehensible, willful and wanton, malicious, and in blatant and intentional disregard for the rights owed to Plaintiff, thereby justifying an award of punitive damages, to the extent such damages are recoverable under the applicable insurance policy(s).

79. The City of Gauley Bridge is vicariously liable for the acts of Chief Clay committed within the scope of his employment.

<u>COUNT IV – NEGLIGENCE</u> Chief Clay

80. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations made in paragraphs 1 through 79 as though fully set forth herein.

81. At all times relevant hereto, Chief Clay owed Plaintiff a duty of care.

82. As set forth hereinabove, Chief Clay, while acting within the scope of his employment, breached his duty of care to Plaintiff.

83. As a direct and proximate result of Chief Clay's negligent and reckless conduct, Plaintiff suffered severe and permanent physical and emotional injuries, and will seek compensation for: past and future medical expenses and other economic and noneconomic damages; pain and suffering, both in the past and in the future; an impairment of the capacity to enjoy life, both in the past and in the future; annoyance, aggravation, inconvenience, and mental anguish, both in the past and in the future.

84. The actions of Chief Clay were reprehensible, willful and wanton, malicious, and in blatant and intentional disregard for the rights owed to Plaintiff, thereby justifying an award of

- 10 -

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 11 of 18 PageID #: 11

punitive damages, to the extent such damages are recoverable under the applicable insurance policy(s).

85. The City of Gauley Bridge is vicariously liable for the acts of Chief Clay committed within the scope of his employment.

<u>COUNT V – GROSS NEGLIGENCE</u> *Chief Clay*

86. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations made in paragraphs 1 through 85 as though fully set forth herein.

87. At all times relevant hereto, Chief Clay owed Plaintiff a duty of care.

88. As set forth hereinabove, Chief Clay, while acting within the scope of his employment, breached his duty of care to Plaintiff.

89. In breaching his duty of care, Chief Clay displayed a conscious indifference to probable dangerous consequences of his actions.

90. In breaching his duty of care, Chief Clay displayed a reckless disregard for the safety of Plaintiff.

91. As a direct and proximate result of Chief Clay's negligent and reckless conduct, Plaintiff suffered severe and permanent physical and emotional injuries, and will seek compensation for: past and future medical expenses and other economic and noneconomic damages; pain and suffering, both in the past and in the future; an impairment of the capacity to enjoy life, both in the past and in the future; annoyance, aggravation, inconvenience, and mental anguish, both in the past and in the future.

92. The actions of Chief Clay were reprehensible, willful and wanton, malicious, and in blatant and intentional disregard for the rights owed to Plaintiff, thereby justifying an award of

- 11 -

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 12 of 18 PageID #: 12

punitive damages, to the extent such damages are recoverable under the applicable insurance policy(s).

93. The City of Gauley Bridge is vicariously liable for the acts of Chief Clay committed within the scope of his employment.

<u>COUNT VI – PRIMA FACIE NEGLIGENCE</u> Chief Clay

94. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations made in paragraphs 1 through 93 as though fully set forth herein.

95. As set forth hereinabove, Chief Clay violated code 18 U.S.C. § 3142(g)(1).

96. Because Chief Clay's violation of 18 U.S.C. § 3142(g)(1) proximately caused Plaintiff's injuries, Chief Clay is liable under a theory of *prima facie* negligence.

97. As a direct and proximate result of Chief Clay's negligent and grossly negligent conduct, Plaintiff suffered severe and permanent physical and emotional injuries, and will seek compensation for: past and future medical expenses and other economic and noneconomic damages; pain and suffering, both in the past and in the future; an impairment of the capacity to enjoy life, both in the past and in the future; annoyance, aggravation, inconvenience, and mental anguish, both in the past and in the future.

98. The actions of Chief Clay were reprehensible, willful and wanton, malicious, and in blatant and intentional disregard for the rights owed to Plaintiff, thereby justifying an award of punitive damages, to the extent such damages are recoverable under the applicable insurance policy(s).

99. The City of Gauley Bridge is vicariously liable for the acts of Chief Clay committed within the scope of his employment.

<u>COUNT VII – INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS</u> *Chief Clay*

100. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations made in paragraphs 1 through 99 as though fully set forth herein.

101. Chief Clay's actions toward Plaintiff, as described hereinabove, were atrocious, intolerable, and so extreme and outrageous as to exceed the bounds of decency.

102. Chief Clay acted with intent to inflict emotional distress or acted recklessly when it was certain or substantially certain that emotional distress would result from his outrageous conduct.

103. Chief Clay's heinous actions caused Plaintiff to suffer severe emotional distress.

104. The emotional distress was so severe, no reasonable person could be expected to endure it.

105. As a direct and proximate result of Chief Clay's wanton, reckless, and unjustified actions, Plaintiff suffered severe emotional distress, both in the past and in the future; mental and emotional pain and suffering, both in the past and in the future; an impairment of the capacity to enjoy life, both in the past and in the future; annoyance, aggravation, inconvenience, and mental anguish, both in the past and in the future.

106. The actions of Chief Clay were reprehensible, willful and wanton, malicious, and in blatant and intentional disregard for the rights owed to Plaintiff, thereby justifying an award of punitive damages, to the extent such damages are recoverable under the applicable insurance policy(s).

107. The City of Gauley Bridge is vicariously liable for the actions of Chief Clay committed within the scope of his employment.

<u>COUNT VIII – NEGLIGENT HIRING</u> *City of Gauley Bridge*

108. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations made in paragraphs 1 through 107 as though fully set forth herein.

109. At all times relevant hereto, the City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD owed the citizens of Gauley Bridge, including Plaintiff, a duty of care.

110. The City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD owed the citizens of Gauley Bridge, including Plaintiff, a duty to not negligently hire employees and place them in position of power and authority where they can cause harm or injuries to others.

111. Upon information and belief, the City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD did not conduct a reasonable investigation into the background of Chief Clay and did not adequately assess the possible risk of harm or injury to third-parties that could result from the conduct of Chief Clay if he were employed as a Gauley Bridge PD officer.

112. Upon information and belief, Chief Clay had a history of prior negligent acts and misconduct when, *inter alia*, he was employed as a Fayette County Sherriff's Deputy.

113. Upon information and belief, had the City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD conducted a reasonable investigation into the background of Chief Clay, they would have discovered that he had a history of negligent acts and misconduct.

114. Upon information and belief, had the City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD conducted a reasonable investigation into the background of Chief Clay, the negligent acts of Chief Clay described hereinabove could have been prevented.

115. The City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD have the authority to formulate, implement, and administer the policies, customs, and practices of their respective agencies and thus represent their official policies.

- 14 -

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 15 of 18 PageID #: 15

116. As a direct and proximate result of the City of Gauley Bridge's and/or the Gauley Bridge PD's negligent conduct, Plaintiff suffered severe and permanent injuries.

117. As a direct and proximate result of City of Gauley Bridge's and/or the Gauley Bridge PD's negligent conduct, Plaintiff suffered severe and permanent physical and emotional injuries, and will seek compensation for: past and future medical expenses and other economic and noneconomic damages; pain and suffering, both in the past and in the future; an impairment of the capacity to enjoy life, both in the past and in the future; annoyance, aggravation, inconvenience, and mental anguish, both in the past and in the future.

<u>COUNT IX – NEGLIGENT SUPERVISION</u> City of Gauley Bridge

118. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations made in paragraphs 1 through 117 as though fully set forth herein.

119. At all times relevant hereto, the City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD owed the citizens of Gauley Bridge, including Plaintiff, a duty of care.

120. The City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD owed the citizens of Gauley Bridge, including Plaintiff, a duty properly and adequately supervise employees, especially those in positions of power and authority, to prevent them from negligently causing harm or injuries to others.

121. Upon information and belief, Chief Clay was not properly or adequately supervised by the City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD.

122. Upon information and belief, the City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD's negligent supervision of Chief Clay allowed him to freely commit the negligent acts described hereinabove.

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 16 of 18 PageID #: 16

123. Upon information and belief, had the City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD properly and adequately supervised Chief Clay, the negligent acts of Chief Clay described hereinabove could have been prevented.

124. The City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD have the authority to formulate, implement, and administer the policies, customs, and practices of their respective agencies and thus represent their official policies.

125. As a direct and proximate result of the City of Gauley Bridge's and/or the Gauley Bridge PD's negligent conduct, Plaintiff suffered severe and permanent injuries.

126. As a direct and proximate result of City of Gauley Bridge's and/or the Gauley Bridge PD's negligent conduct, Plaintiff suffered severe and permanent physical and emotional injuries, and will seek compensation for: past and future medical expenses and other economic and noneconomic damages; pain and suffering, both in the past and in the future; an impairment of the capacity to enjoy life, both in the past and in the future; annoyance, aggravation, inconvenience, and mental anguish, both in the past and in the future.

<u>COUNT X – NEGLIGENT RETENTION</u> City of Gauley Bridge

127. Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations made in paragraphs 1 through 126 as though fully set forth herein.

128. At all times relevant hereto, the City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley BridgePD owed the citizens of Gauley Bridge, including Plaintiff, a duty of care.

129. The City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD owed the citizens of Gauley Bridge, including Plaintiff, a duty to not negligently retain unfit employees, especially those in position of power and authority, who have engaged in negligent or otherwise wrongful conduct.

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 17 of 18 PageID #: 17

130. Upon information and belief, the City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD knew or should have known that Chief Clay was an unfit employee, but retained him anyway.

131. Upon information and belief, the City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD could have reasonably foreseen the possible risk of harm or injury to others that could result from the conduct of its unfit employee, Chief Clay.

132. Upon information and belief, had the City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD not negligently retained Chief Clay, the negligent acts of Chief Clay described hereinabove could have been prevented.

133. The City of Gauley Bridge and/or the Gauley Bridge PD have the authority to formulate, implement, and administer the policies, customs, and practices of their respective agencies and thus represent their official policies.

134. As a direct and proximate result of the City of Gauley Bridge's and/or the Gauley Bridge PD's negligent conduct, Plaintiff suffered severe and permanent injuries.

135. As a direct and proximate result of City of Gauley Bridge's and/or the Gauley Bridge PD's negligent conduct, Plaintiff suffered severe and permanent physical and emotional injuries, and will seek compensation for: past and future medical expenses and other economic and noneconomic damages; pain and suffering, both in the past and in the future; an impairment of the capacity to enjoy life, both in the past and in the future; annoyance, aggravation, inconvenience, and mental anguish, both in the past and in the future.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment in her favor against Defendants in an amount to be proven at trial, together with pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; for all damages recoverable under law; for punitive damages, where applicable; for attorneys' fees under 42 U.S.C.

Case 2:21-cv-00491 Document 1 Filed 09/02/21 Page 18 of 18 PageID #: 18

§ 1983; for expenses and costs of litigation; and for such other and further relief this Honorable Court deems just and proper.

PLAINTIFF DEMANDS A TRIAL BY JURY.

JANE DOE, By Counsel

/s/ Russell A. Williams Steven P. New (WVSB No. 7756) Russell A. Williams (WVSB No. 12710) New, Taylor & Associates 430 Harper Park Drive Beckley, West Virginia 25801 (304) 250-6017 russell@newtaylorlaw.com